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The fascinating
history of the
humble stick

ONE OF only four full-time
makers of shepherds’ crooks and
walking sticks in the UK was
guest speaker at the January
meeting of the West Wolds U3A.

Dominic Suddaby produces
about 1,000 sticks per year and
demonstrates his craft at county
shows. He told of the changing
nature of the sticks, once very
popular in town and cities and
now much less so, but
increasingly popular with walkers
in the countryside.

Town sticks were made from
ebony and from malaica canes; in
the 1920s and ‘30s stick wood
was imported from the then
empire. Post war, there was a
change to indigenous woods, such
as ash, blackthorn hazel and holly.

The wood is seasoned under
cover for three years before use.

Dominic also told of sticks with
special uses: the thumb stick,
being useful for catching adders,
and the shepherd’s crook, as a
bracket for a lantern or for
catching hens.

Examples of rams” horn, stags’
antlers and buffalo horn were
passed around the audience as he
explained these were worked and
attached to the stick.

The next meeting will be on
Thursday February 9 at 10am in
the Festival Hall, when Don and
Dorothy Robinson will talk about
Magnificent Music Machines.
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State of Laceby Churchyard - 1874
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Volume 11, New o 1874
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Laceby Hermit CHURCHYARD
Horace Watson - "The
Laceby Druggist"
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istorical Records
Directory 24th June, 1874
Links
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From statements made concerning this parish it would seem that its
Now? sanitary condition is in a most alarming state.
Beehive Homepage
Othersites in the Clubs At a recent meeting of the Board of Guardians at Caistor the Health
and Societies category  fficer’s report of visits made to Habrough, Clee and Laceby was
Click here to mail the . i 5 Y
helpdesk if you have a read by the clerk. It contained some startling disclosures in regard to

comment to make about  the neglect of sanitary precautions at Laceby, in consequence of

the Beehive or this which the village is rarely free from disease.

Beehive site

Click here to email this . .

page to a friend He found two cases of typhoid fever, the sufferers being both of the

butchers. There had been eight interments in six weeks, and the
inhabitants of some of the houses surrounding the churchyard
bitterly complained of its state.

A letter was read in which an inhabitant, addressing the health
officer, instanced more cases of fever, stated that there had been
eleven deaths in nine weeks in a population of about 1000, that the
fever was hushed up by the doctors, and again called his attention to
the state of the churchyard etc. |

In discussion it was mentioned that an order had already been
issued from the Home Office for the closure of the churchyard as a
burial ground on the 24th December next, but the general opinion of
the meeting seemed to be that some decided action should be taken

http://beehive.thisisgrimsby.co.uk/default.asp? WCI=SitetHome&ID=5641&PagelD=2... 09/12/2005
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anticipatory of it.

The Chairman said it was their duty to put an immediate stop to such
practices — Mr W lles said when the weather was wet and warm too
the ooze from the churchyard was dreadful. It was explained that the
surface had been lowered 2ft 6 in or 3 ft, and that the remaining soil
was saturated with decomposing animal matter.

Mr Loft said the report was exaggerated. The Health Officer said it
was not, and brought forward proofs. As to fever never being free of
the place, he knew from certain and reliable information that there
had been 100 cases of typhoid fever in the village in one year, and if
it was not of a low kind to cause deaths it would create pauperism.”

Tuesday, July 28, 1874
“Bad Condition of Laceby Churchyard.

The Medical Officer of Health to the Caistor Poor Law Union having
made a report alleging an unsanitary condition of Laceby
Churchyard, a committee appointed by the rural Sanitary Authority of
the Caistor Union met at the Waterloo Inn, Laceby, to investigate the
matter. The committee’s report presented to the meeting of Caistor
Board of Guardians the following month revealed some shocking
details.

Some time previously, during work of restoration of the church, soil
had been removed from the churchyard to a depth of 2ft 6in, and it
was declared that further soil had been removed since. This was,
indeed, admitted by the Rector. It was this removal of soil that had
led to unsanitary conditions as it meant that many of the buried
bodies were now much nearer the surface than was desirable.

Druggist’s Statement

A Mr Watson, druggist, of Laceby told the committee that he had
noticed a bad smell on the north side of the churchyard when soil
was removed. He took up a handful of earth, found it was heavy and
did not really look like soil. He carried it away and boiled it and a
froth collected round the pan. The experiment put him against his
food for some days afterwards He declared that some loads of soil
had been taken away from the churchyard in the spring of this year.
The Rector, who was present at the inquiry, admitted that a certain
protion had been removed.

Foot in Coffin

A Mr Youhill expressed the belief that the removal of soil at the time
the church was restored was injurious, and was still so. While
walking over the churchyard he put his foot on a grave and it slipped
into a coffin This coffin was not more than four inches from the
surface.

Gravedigger's Statement
John Audiss, who had been gravedigger from 1869 to 1872, said he
resigned the job because he dug up many skulls and skeletons.

Once when digging a grave, and about three feet down, the side of
an adjacent coffin gave way and the skeleton of a woman he had

http://beehive.thisisgrimsby.co.uk/default.asp? WCI=SiteHome&ID=5641&PageID=2... 09/12/2005
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known (but whose name he did not wish to tell), fell into the grave he
was digging. He had to push it back and make it as secure as he
could. The stench was very bad. During the time the church porch
was being restored he dug over 25 or 26 skulls and parts of
skeletons, and buried them together in a hole in the churchyard.
When he resigned he was asked why he would not dig any more
graves. He replied that some day he might dig up his own father.

Medical Officer's Statement

In a long, written statement, the Medical Officer submitted that, since
the removal of the 2ft 6in of soil, bringing the coffins so dangerously
near the surface and the exposure to the atmosphere for days of
masses of soil saturated with animal matter (as proved by Mr
Watson'’s rough experiment), the churchyard had become a
nuisance injurious to health. He said the year after the removal of
the soil the state of sickness in the village was such that a report
was ordered to be made by the medical officer of the district, and
that report showed that there had been 100 cases of fever that
season in a population of 1,025; that the state of matters was so bad
that the chairman of the Board of Guardians was requested to lay
the report before the Bench of Magistrates of the district with a view
to its being remedied.

The death rate of Laceby for the quarter ending June 30 is 43 per
1,000; whereas in the town of Market Rasen, with a population of
2,815, with defective drainage and bad water supply, the death rate
for the same quarter was 21 per 1,000; whilst in the town of Caistor,
with a population of 2,012, the death rate was only 7%. This shows
conclusively, that influences are at work in Laceby acting
prejudicially on the health of the people, and | submit that owing to
its state the churchyard, although not the sole, is yet a prime cause
of such baneful influences.”

The new Laceby Cemetery opened in 1875 at the top of Mill Lane,
which was eventually renamed Cemetery Road.

REST IN PEACE.

This Is Grimsby and North East Lincolnshire | The Beehive home | Copyright | Disclaimer | Terms and Conditions

This site is designed for viewing with Microsoft Explorer 4.0 / Netscape Communicator 4.0 and above.
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BRADLEY AND DIXON’S WOODS

Bradley and Dixons Woods are located south of Grimsby on Bradley Road, in the
Parish of Bradley. In the 15" century the Mayor and Burgess of Grimsby were Lords
of the Manor and they are said to have hunted wild boar in the woods during
mediaeval times. The Grimsby coat of arms pays tribute to this by bearing three
boars’ heads.

Both woods are a mixture of deciduous trees such as oak, ash, birch, alder, field
maple and wild cherry; a few conifers — scots pine, larch and norway spruce and a
variety of shrubs — elder, hawthom, blackthorn, hazel, guelder rose and blackberry.
The ground flora is varied and contains many beautiful wild flowers such as bluebells,
wood anemone, early purple orchid and wood sorrel.

Bradley Woods is now approximately 25 hectares (62 acres) and Dixon’s Wood
approximately 17 hectares (42 acres). According to the 1879 Ordnance Survey map,
Bradley Woods was once much larger and had an extension in the north-east corer
called “Great Wood”. Together the two woods made up about 54 hectares (135
acres).

Bradley Woods was owned by the Nelthorpe family until 31% July 1914 when it was
sold to the Grimsby Borough Council with the intention of using the land as a
cemetery because the nearby ones were nearly full. Fortunately, however, an
extension was made to the Scartho Road Cemetery and so the wood was saved. At
the time that the Council purchased Bradley Woods many of the trees were mere
saplings and so the wood is largely made up of trees which are 90 — 100 years old.

Originally it had more public facilities in addition to the benches and tables in the
picnic area, and from the 1920s to 1973 the wood had a toilet block and taps
attached to the woodman’s hut. Tar roads were laid pre-war and these remain today,
although the toilets were apparently removed for reasons of anti-social behaviour.

Dixon’s Wood was formerly known as Scartho Wood and was also owned by the
Nelthorpe family from 1630 until 1914, when it was sold to the Dixon family who
managed the wood as a game reserve and as a small logging investment for their
paper mill in Grimsby. They employed two full-time woodsmen to look after the wood,
and from all accounts the game and the woods flourished under their care.

However, post World War 2, private woods became more difficult to manage with
rising costs and an increase in vandalism. Eventually, on 26" September 1972, the
Dixon family made a gift of the woods to the Grimsby Borough Council. Since that
time there have been no resident woodsmen.

The type of woodland occurring in Bradley and Dixon’s Woods is primary in nature
and can be related back to the ancient wildwood — the original forest cover of the
British Isles. There is a reference in the Domesday Book of 1086 to the village of
Bradley and the “broad wood”. The importance of the site was recognised in 1998
when it was designated by the Council as the first Local Nature Reserve in North
East Lincolnshire.

North East Lincolnshire Council 2005



LACEBY CHURCHYARD 1874

During the Walking Group’s recent walk at Laceby, a report was read out concerning the state of the Laceby
Churchyard in 1874.

Apparently 2 and a half feet of soil had been removed from the churchyard during some restoration work, thus
bringing graves near to the surface.

Many cases of typhoid fever had occurred and there had been eleven deaths in nine weeks in a population of
about 1000. Local doctors had attempted to hush up these figures, no doubt to allay panic.

The Chairman, at a meeting of the Board of Guardians at Caistor stated that although the Home Office had
already issued an order for the closure of the churchyard as a burial ground on the 24 December next, more
immediate action should be taken.

It was stated that when the weather was wet and warm, the ooze from the churchyard was awful.
At a meeting a month later in the Waterloo Inn (now the “Laceby Arms”) various statements were taken:

A Druggist stated that he had noticed a bad smell on the North side of the churchyard and had taken a handful of
soil. The soil was heavy and did not really look like soil. When he boiled it, a froth collected round the pan. The
experiment put him off his food for several days.

A Gravedigger had resigned the job because he had recently dug up many skeletons and skulls. The stench was
very bad. When he resigned, he was asked why he would not dig any more graves. He replied that some day he
might dig up his own father.

The death rate for the quarter ending 30 June was 43 per 1000, whereas in the town of Market Rasen with a
population of 2815, defective drainage and bad water supply, it was 21 per 1000, and in Caistor, population
2012, only seven and three quarters per 1000.

The new cemetery opened in 1875, which was eventually renamed Cemetery Road.

Unfortunately the report does not say why two and a half feet of soil was removed, perhaps the Vicar was doing
a trade in compost!

REST IN PEACE
Submitted by Peter Wallis
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Don and Dorothy pull out all the stops for organ special

AT THE February meeting of West Wolds
U3A, Don and Dorothy Robinson gave a
fascinating talk, illustrated with film and
music, on the development of music
machines from the simplest street organs
to cinema

They talked about barrel organs,

popular in Germany, street organs, popular
in Italy, and the development of fairground
organs with their increasingly ornate

West Wolds U3A

decorations and range of instruments,
together with the development of music
cut into paper card, similar to the Jacquard
system used in weaving.

Don and Dorothy also showed a film of
their removal of a Warlitzer organ, which
had last been played at the Grenada

Cinema in Slough in 1938,

restoration in Market

The next meeting of the U A will be
the Festival Hall onThmszﬁy‘Méxch at
10.30am.

The speaker will be-Da.ve Start,
Director of the Heritage Trust for
Lincolnshire, who will be talking on the

"Stone Age and Medieval periods in
Lincolnshire.



Life and settlements in Lincolnshire

DAVID Start, Director of the
Heritage Trust of Lincolnshire,
gave the West Wolds U3A a well

‘researched and delivered account
of the life and settlements in
Lincolnshire, from the stoneage
to the medieval period.

He told an audience of 80
about the great forest on the land
link to the continent, the tree
stumps of which are visible at
Anderby Creek at low tide.

" Traces remain of visiting
hunter gatherers and of
Mesolithic hunters in West Keal.

Lincolnshire was well
populated throughout this period.

The production of salt on the
coast from Roman times until the
early 19th century was an
important industry that produced
trade routes like the Bluestone
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West Wolds U3A

Heath Road.

The departure of the Romans /|
in 410 led to a succession of
invasions - Anglo Saxon, Viking,
and Norman, all of which
blended into the existing
structure laving a legacy of
churches, forts, castles, language
and social structures.

The talk was splendidly
illustrated by slides.

The next meeting of West
Wolds U3A will be in the Festival
Hall tomorrow, Thursday April
13 at 10am, when Martin
Griffiths, a professional artist,
tutor and lecturer will give an
illustrated account of English
Landscape painting 1750-1850.
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U3A

THIS month, the University
of the Third Age - U3A - is
seeking to raise awareness
of the organisation, the
benefits of belonging and
what is available in the U3A
in locally.

It is not a university in the
generally accepted sense of the
word - a formal institution for
study and research - but it is in
the older sense of the word - a
group of scholars.

Members of the U3A get
together to study a subject and
to learn from each other.

There are no qualifications to
be gained or exams to be taken.
Study is undertaken for its own
enjoyment and to “keep the
little grey cells functioni

The West Wolds U3A based
in Market Rasen has around 160
members.

A £12 annual subscription
allows them to participate in
some 21 interest groups,
covering such diverse subjects
as Scrabble, French
conversation, walking, geology,
music appreciation and crafts.

There is a Luncheon Club
and most of the walks taken

MARKET RASEN MAIL WEDNESDAY, MARCH 15, 200

Keep your brain active at

.

the West Wolds university

A i i

There is no fear of slowing down in retirement for Market Rasen’s West Wolds

pictuedhemona

trip to Stockholm. Other jaunts are planned to France and Russia this year. (photo supplied)

twice a month also end up at a
suitable venue for a convivial
lunch.

A Local History Group meets
monthly at the Limes Hotel
while the Bridge group meets
there every week.

On the second Thursday of
each month there is a general
meeting at the Festival Hall,
from 10am with a talk on a
subject of general interest.

Occasionally trips are

organised further afield and in
2003 a group flew to Stockholm
to see the Vasa exhibition while
last year members of the
walking group visited Southern
Brittany. It is hoped to repeat
the “Brittany Walking Week” in
May and later in the year others
will be going to St. Petersburg.
The U3A in the UK is an
organisation with over 150,000
members affiliated to 574 local
groups throughout the country.

The qualification for
membership is defined as
“being no longer in full time
employment” and so its general
meetings and interest group
activities take place
predominantly in the daytime.

If you are interested in taking

in activities call Colin Hare
on 01673 842779 or David
Power on 01472 852357 or join
a general meeting in the Festival
Hall, as detailed above.

In the U3A,
love will
find a way

RETIREMENT is a time in life
which we all look forward to, but to
lose your partner after 40 years of
happy marriage at this time is
extremely hard to cope with, to say
the least.

This is what happened to one of
the members of the West Wolds
U3A, Peter Wallace from
Brookenby.

But the power of the U3A was to
bring him into contact with a woman
who was to become his wife.

Whilst making his Council Tax
payments at the Market Rasen
council office he was served by
Doreen, who was already looking
forward to retirement and had been
given a leaflet about joining The
University of the Third Age which
met in Grimsby. X

Having also read in the Rasen
Mail an article detailing the
inaugural meeting of a new U3A at
Welton in October 1996, she
suggested he went along and
reported back nd report back on how
it all went.

This he did and invited her toa
sandwich lunch in a local hostelry.
A fiendship doveloped dumtihis
unlikely innocent invitation, and
three years later the couple were
married.

Both Peter and Doreen Wallace
became leading founder members of
the West Wolds U3A which came
into being on the March 25, 1999.

He often jokes that he wishes he
had paid his Council Tax by Direct
Debit - but don’t you believe it!
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She had read an article in the “Market Rasen Mail” giving details of an inaugural meeting of

U3A to be held at Welton on the 8" October 1996. So
gentleman that he go along and report back on how it a
said Council lady to a sandwich lunch in a loca
unlikely innocent invitation, and thre
being strong founder members of the
March 1999 from those early beginnings o
He often jokes that he wishes he had paid his Council Tax by

the suggestion was put to this

1l went. This he did and invited the

| hostelry. A friendship developed from this

e years later the couple were married, the two of theﬂm
West Wolds U3A which came into being on the 25™

f the branch of the Welton group forming.

Direct Debit — don’t you believe
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What's On

Magic of
the great
musicals
is back

AFTER a three-year gap, ‘The Magic of the
Musicals’, a glorious celebration of some of the
very best songs from the hit West End musicals is
back!

The show brings together a selection of the finest
and best-loved songs from the most successful West
End musicals of all time and celebrates the
enchanting melodies of some of our best-loved
songwriters in one spectacular show at the Grimsby
Auditorium on Saturday March 11.

West End superstars Marti Webb, Wayne Sleep
and Robert Meadmore pay homage to the musical
magic in this hit-packed show featuring songs from
‘Billy Elliott’, ‘Chicago’, ‘Chitty Chitty Bang
Bang’ and ‘Guys and Dolls’.

If that isn’t enough to whet your appetite there is
also music from ‘Mama Mia’, ‘The King and I,

. ‘Les Miserables’, ‘Lion King’, ‘Mary Poppins’,
“The Phantom of the Opera’, ‘“The Producers’ and

many more. — — —
Tickets from the box office: 0870 060 2331 Joln West End stars Wayne Sleep, Marti Webb and Robert Meadmore at Grlmsby
(booking fee may apply) Auditorium.
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Explore one of the Wolds' prettiest villages

By Hugh Marrows

Little Cawthorpe and Muckton
FOR the New Year I have chosen an
easy walk from Little Cawthorpe to
Muckton.

About half the distance is along a quiet
lane, which is mostly around the 50 metre
contour, a modest elevation which

Little Cawthorpe is arguably the
prettiest village on this eastern fringe of the
Wolds and the name of its inn, the Royal

in 1651 when King Charles II hid for a day
and a night in an oak tree to escape his
enemies after the Battle of Worcester.

A pamcularly plctumsque part of the
village is the ford, which provides the inn

its alternative name of “The Splash’.

At the other end of Little Cawthorpe the
church stands on a hill above a large pond
fed by seven springs.

This is the source of the Long Eau,
which flows over the ‘splash’ near the inn
and eventually onwards to Saltfleet.

The area has been landscaped over the
years but even ﬁ'(xnmcmadsomcofme

can still be seen

The little church of St Helen's is qune
modern as churches go, having been built
in 1860.

It is strikingly designed in red and black
brick, though nowadays some may feel it is
not too sympathetic with its surroundings.

Actoss the road is the Manor House.

This is a private property but may be
glimpsed from the road and is a fine
example, with its Dutch pbl&, of Tudor
brickwork; it is dated 167

Two miles away Mucktun has lost its
Holy'I\'mlly,achmchﬂmhadbeenmb\nh
in 1878 but still contained original Norman

Little Cawthorpe: The water splash.

archways when demolished in 1983

Now only the poignant, abandoned
churchyard with a few remains
along with a still splendid, though lonely

Across the road on a gate pillar is a rare
Victorian letterbox.

For three-quarters of a mile our route
runs close to (and twice crosses) the old
East Lincolnshire main line between
Grimsby to Peterborough, the first to be
built by the Great Northern Railway.

It was completed in stages and this

produce and fish from Grimsby.

Closures of stations, passenger and
freight services began as early as 1939;
final closure was on October 5, 1970.

On the way back to Cawthorpe the walk
also passes Legbourne Wood. This 86 acre
wood has been owned by Lincolnshire
Wildlife Trust only since 2004, having
been partially purchased by public appeal
and is the largest run by the Trust.

It is particularly special as an example
of authentic, ancient woodland,
undisturbed for centuries, posmbly since
the time of the Norman Conquest and for
this reason is notable for its range of
woodland flowers.

You may detour to explore if you wish,
but do please stay on any marked paths.

The route can be found on OS Land
Ram,cr map 122 (Skegness) or Explorer

Thz. distance is 4.75 miles (7.5
kilometres) and the Royal Oak at Little
Cawthorpe is ideal for refreshments.
Readers may park and start the walk from
there too by kind permission of the
landlord.

THE WALK: views over the marsh.

From the In Muckton you will find the abandoned
Royal Oak churchyard with its lytchgate.

there are two From there return towards Little Cawthorpe for

200 yards before bearing right into an un-named
“No Through Road’, continuing ahead when it
becomes a grass track.
At a track junction bear left, now close to
the old railway, until in half a mile at
Legbourne Wood the path crosses the
abandoned track and loops round
amon@ the trees on the far side.
gnore a footpath going off to the
nghl but continue more or less

The first is to
turn left through the

of Coggles W parallel to the railway until the path
Immediately after crossing a veers left to re-cross it.

stream turn right and the path then Now follow the lane ahead until

leads through woods to a road. you see the water splash ahead.
Now turn left, pass the church and Cross a footbridge onto the raised

keep straight on out of the village.

Both options now follow this quiet
road along the edge of the Wolds for a
couple of miles while enjoying the fine

path beside it.

This leads back to the ford and
another footbridge just below the
inn.

29 membo (S
Qratam Henson
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